# (Re)thinking 'Gangs'



## About Runnymede

The Runnymede Trust is an independent policy research organization focusing on equality and justice through the promotion of a successful multi-ethnic society. Founded as a Charitable Educational Trust, Runnymede has a long track record in policy research, working in close collaboration with eminent thinkers and policymakers in the public, private and voluntary sectors. We believe that the way ahead lies in building effective partnerships, and we are continually developing these with the voluntary sector, the government, local authorities and companies in the UK and Europe. We stimulate debate and suggest forward-looking strategies in areas of public policy such as education, the criminal justice system, employment and citizenship.

Since 1968, the date of Runnymede's foundation, we have worked to establish and maintain a positive image of what it means to live affirmatively within a society that is both multi-ethnic and culturally diverse. Runnymede continues to speak with a thoughtful and independent public voice on these issues today.

#### Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank the following people for their comments on earlier drafts of this piece: Robert Berkeley, Wendy Bottero, Dick Hobbs, Malcolm James, Caroline Knowles, Yasmeen Narayan, Coretta Phillips, Paul Rock and Kjartan Sveinsson. The author would also like to thank Olivia Munos-Rojas for her help with compiling the newspaper sources used in this piece, and the participants of the 'Doing Race' seminar at Durham University in January 2008 for their helpful comments in shaping this argument.

ISBN-13: 978-1-9067320-0-4 (print) EAN: 9781906732004 (print)

ISBN-13: 978-1-9067320-1-1 (online) EAN: 9781906732011 (online)

Published by Runnymede in June 2008, this document is copyright © 2008 the Runnymede Trust.

An electronic version can be read or downloaded from the Runnymede website [www.runnymedetrust.org].

Reproduction of this report by photocopying or electronic means for non-commercial purposes is permitted. Otherwise, it is not permitted to store or transmit the electronic version of this report, nor to scan or photocopy the paper version for dissemination or commercial use, without the prior permission of the publisher.

Researchers and commentators may quote from this document without charge provided they cite the author, title and the publishers when they acknowledge the source of the material quoted. The publisher would prefer that no individual quotation should exceed 400 words, and that the total material quoted should not exceed 800 words.

# Contents

Foreword	2
Introduction	3
Section I: Constructing 'The Gang'	4
Section II: What's in a Name? 'The Gang' in Social Theory	8
The 'Classic Gang'	8
The 'Modern Gang'	9
The 'Criminal Gang'	9
The 'Mythical Gang'	10
The 'Transatlantic Gang'	10
Section III: The Problem of 'The Gang'	13
The Problem of 'Race'	13
The Problem of History	14
The Problem of 'Culture'	15
Section IV: (Re)thinking 'The Gang' in Policy and Practice	16
Bibliography	18
Book and Journal Articles	18
Newspaper Articles	19

## Foreword

t a time when we are constantly exposed to watching and reading accounts of violent crime fuelled by gangs and knife and gun culture, this report usefully draws our attention to understanding the consequences of 'thinking gangs'. It is also a powerful contribution to the ongoing debate on the over-representation of black and minority ethnic groups in the criminal justice system. The information on gangs compiled in this report is therefore both timely and relevant. Dr Alexander asserts that not only has the term 'gang' been mis-conceptualized and misused by the media, politicians and policy makers, but it has also, over a period of time, invoked and reinforced its association with 'race', young people and particularly with the black (African-Caribbean) community.

In scrutinizing the discourse on 'gangs' in media reports and speeches made by politicians, the author demonstrates that the racialization of gun and knife-enabled crime is the consequence of casual labelling. Referring to a speech by Tony Blair in February 2007, in which he uses words 'black kids', 'gangs', 'criminal cultures' and 'the black community', the author shows how it effectively 'serves to collectivize the problem as one specific to, arising from and potentially encompassing, the black community as a whole'.

Media attention to youth crime has driven varied responses and initiatives from the government, including the Tackling Gangs Action Programme, the decision to increase police action to target gangs and the Home Secretary's desire to expand the use of civil injunctions to control behaviour. But these responses will prove ineffective and unrealistic. Targeting gangs and using civil injunctions will perpetuate the problem by drawing more young black people into the justice system. This is happening while the over-representation of young black people in the criminal justice system and experiences of disadvantage and discrimination in other areas remains to be addressed.

For families who have either lost a loved one to gang-related violence or whose children are at its sharp end, the idea of a 'gang' is certainly not mythical. Tragic losses encompass a variety of fears and the frustrations of living in deprived housing estates with limited educational and economic opportunities. Violent youth crime may have increased in the last few years but the attention it now elicits in the media is unprecedented. Reports of murder are disturbing but sensationalist coverage can also cause damage. Media sensationalism contributes both to disproportionate fear of crime and the problem of over-representation of young black people in the criminal justice system.

An important contribution of this report lies in how it challenges entrenched stereotypes. It demonstrates how the media and politicians racially stereotype when using the word gangs. In Dr Alexander's words, 'this results in the potential ascription of "gang" labels to all groups of BME young men, while defining out acts of group based violence or criminal activity by majority/white youth'. The problem of youth violence exists across community and gender divides and affects the lives of all young people. There are better ways of dealing with it: involving young people from under-privileged groups in positive activities from an early age, supporting parents with limited resources and supervising and supporting young offenders caught up in the criminal justice system.

This report from the Runnymede *Perspectives* series presents useful information that will assist policy makers, practitioners and all interested parties to appreciate how the word 'gang' misleads and its use creates the very problem it intends to describe.

#### Neena Samota

Policy and Research Manager Nacro June 2008

# (Re)thinking 'Gangs'

Claire Alexander

'Images matter... Given the failure to describe the individually lived realities of gang social life, gang research... is essentially an argument over the correct description of a ghost'

(Katz and Jackson-Jacobs, 2004)

'the harder researchers look, the bigger the gang problem becomes' (Hobbs, 1997)

#### Introduction

In response to the increasing number of teenage murders in London and elsewhere in the past two years, the attention of the media, politicians, policy makers and institutions working with young people have focused on 'the gang' as a key feature of contemporary urban youth identities, and as an emergent social crisis. Sir Ian Blair recently told the London Assembly that 'these awful deaths are the second most difficult issue that London faces behind terrorism' (*The London Paper*, 3 January 2008), while in May last year a report from the Metropolitan Police claimed to have identified 171 active youth 'gangs' in London alone.<sup>1</sup>

we actually know very little about 'gangs' in the UK.

Nevertheless, despite – or perhaps because of – the heightened profile of 'the gang', it remains true that we actually know very little about 'gangs' in the UK: about how 'a gang' might be defined or understood, about what being in 'a gang' means, even whether there are 'gangs' in any accepted sociological or criminological sense at all. We know still less about how 'the gang' links to levels of youth violence, the incidence of knife or gun crime, organized crime or, indeed, to more mundane practices of youth experience and identity. The invocation of 'gang life' and 'gang culture' often means that complex

and thorny questions of how youth violence or conflict can be mapped onto a broader social, economic, political and cultural context – and what the role and responsibilities of wider society might be in this issue – do not even get raised. 'The gang' is, it seems, an explanation sufficient in and of itself. While academics and some leading youth organizations have remained cautious about the existence and role of 'gangs' in Britain, 'the gang' has developed a public life independent of any empirical foundation or conceptual exploration – full of its own sound and fury, but signifying very little.

This paper is an attempt to take a step back from the current furore, and to reflect on what 'the gang' is and what the consequences are of 'thinking gangs' in this particular moment. It is absolutely not an attempt to minimize, trivialize or dismiss

the central issue around the increase in violence amongst young people – 27 dead young people in London alone in 2007 is a clear and tragic testament to the fact that something is going on, and going wrong – but it is to raise critical (in

'the gang' has developed a public life independent of any empirical foundation or conceptual exploration – full of its own sound and fury, but signifying very little.

1 MPS response to Guns, Gangs and Knives in London, 5 May 2007 (www. mpa.gov.uk/committees/cop/2007/070503/05.htm)

both the sense of urgent and analytical) questions about how these events have been understood and whether the obsession with 'the gang' serves to illuminate or obscure them. The paper works in three main parts: firstly to think about the ways in which 'the gang' has been portrayed (or, perhaps more accurately, constructed), both in the media and by politicians and policy makers; secondly, to consider what 'a gang' is, drawing on sociological and criminological research in the US and UK, and to reflect on the different traditions around understanding youth deviance underpinning these approaches; thirdly, to highlight and unpack some of the unspoken (and increasingly spoken) assumptions in the invocation of the 'the gang' and explore some of the consequences of thinking youth violence through this lens.

#### Section I: Constructing 'The Gang'

In the early hours of 1 January 2008, on his way home from New Year celebrations with friends, Henry Bolombi was stabbed to death on a street in Edmonton, London. Henry was 18 years old and has the dubious distinction of being London's first stabbing victim of 2008, one in a growing number of young people in London, and across the UK, to die in knife or gun related attacks in recent years. Henry was reported as having 'fled war torn Congo in search of a safer life in Britain' (The London Paper, 3 January 2008), but apparently fell victim to what the Daily Mail has heralded as 'a vicious "postcode war" between rival London gangs' (Daily Mail, 2 January 2008). Henry himself, the Daily Mail announced ominously, was also known by his 'gang name' 'Black H', had a series of convictions for robbery and assault using a knife and was the leader of a 'gang' labelled variously in the press as 'the Cage Boys', 'the Africa Boys' (Evening Standard, 31 December 2007) or '123' (Daily Mail, 22 January 2008). While the police were reported as 'keeping an open mind regarding a motive at present' (inthenews.co.uk, 4 January 2008), the Daily Mail was quick to place the death as part of 'The knife and gun crime wave... thought to be centred around rival teenage gangs fighting for territory resulting in deadly acts of violence' (Daily Mail, 2 January 2008).

Henry's story has become a depressingly familiar one in the past two years, with the reports rehearsing the same images and sentiments – a young man held by some as a son, friend, pupil, churchgoer, with a future full of now stolen possibilities, and by others (the majority) as caught in a web of violence and retribution of his own making, a product of the urban nightmare, in

which faceless young men murder each other for sport, and where street memorials and website tributes testify to their expendability. The *Daily Mail* recently claimed (*Daily Mail*, 16 January 2008) that five children are stabbed or shot in London every day<sup>2</sup> and that 'Many were victims of gang violence'. In London in 2007, there were 27 teenagers murdered, with more scattered across the country – most notoriously the shooting of 11 year old Rhys Jones in Liverpool in August.

'The gang' stands at the heart of these events - it serves as a circular and self-fulfilling cause and explanation: Henry Bolombi was murdered by a 'gang', because he was a 'gang member' and because this is what 'gangs' do (and by so doing define their 'gang' status by default). Only two days after Henry's death, and in contrast to the investigating police's apparently 'open mind' approach, Sir Ian Blair was reported as stating 'We need to find out what makes people feel safer in a gang than out of one' (London Paper, 3 January 2008). 'The gang' becomes the baseline for understanding the recent spate of youth murders - the perpetrators are almost always described as 'a gang' and in many cases the victims themselves are assumed to be members of 'a gang' or at least participants in a seemingly ubiquitous, if ill-defined, 'gang culture' (Sveinsson, 2008). When 15 year old Alex Mulumba was killed in March 2006, the Daily Mail wrote that Alex, 'far from being innocent... was another victim of the destructive gang culture in Britain's inner cities' (26 June 2006, my emphasis). The article titled 'The Life and Death of a Gangsta', continued that Alex (aka 'Tiny Alien') had a 'secret life' as part of 'gang set up... by half a dozen black boys from a south London Estate' known as the 'Man Dem Crew':

Brought up on an unrelenting diet of 'gangsta rap' music and violent video games, they tried their hardest to dress the part and talk the talk....Often lacking positive role models at home and adrift in a subculture built around instant gratification through sex, drugs and crime.

Press reports throughout 2007 point to websites, 'tags', musical taste and memorials to 'fallen souljas' (as with 15 year old Billy Cox, shot in

According to the Daily Mail, the official figures for the period from 1 April to 30 November 2007 showed that 1273 individuals aged under 20 were victims of knife or gun attacks. Camille Batmanghelidjh of Kids Company is also quoted as stating 'In fact, the figures are higher than this because there is under reporting of attacks... the real statistics are not coming out.'

February 2007) as signs of 'gang' association.<sup>3</sup> After the murder of Michael Dosunmu (also aged 15 and also killed in February 2007), the Daily Mail wrote of 'Guns as accessories... gangs that take the place of families (Daily Mail, 16 February 2007) and pointed to a 'breed of savage young men who are capable of horrific violence unfettered by the most basic concepts of morality'. This was despite the fact that neither Billy Cox nor Michael Dosunmu (nor indeed any of the high profile teen-on-teen murders of 2007) had any 'gang' affiliations, even within the very broad parameters of the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) definition. Rather it seems that simply being a young, male and minority ethnic victim is sufficient in and of itself to warrant the label 'gang related'.

'The gang' provides a potent shortcut to understanding youth conflict, offering Hollywood style images of urban chaos and random violence, threatening to spill out from inner city ghettos, in the place of more complex explanations exploring the realities of this phenomenon.

'The gang', then, provides a potent shortcut to understanding youth conflict, offering Hollywood style images of urban chaos and random violence, threatening to spill out from inner city ghettos, in the place of more complex explanations exploring the realities of this phenomenon and the social, economic, political and cultural conditions of its emergence. While the appeal to the new, the graphic and the sensational might perhaps be expected of the press, rather more worrying is the way in which these ghetto fantasies and stopthe-press 'explanations' have been picked up and circulated by politicians and institutions, and made the basis for policy determined seemingly more by a knee-jerk desire to be seen to be doing something rather than by a commitment to implementing a meaningful, measured and, above all, effective response. In 2007, both Tony Blair (in February) and then Gordon Brown (in August) convened 'emergency summits' around gangs and

gun crime, with the government announcing a 'Three point plan' to tackle gun and gang crime, focusing on policing, courts and community prevention (Daily Mail, 22 February 2007). Politicians from across the political spectrum have called for policy amendments ranging from David Cameron's swiftly recanted 'Hug a Hoodie' campaign to tougher sentencing for gun crime (Daily Express, 18 February 2007) and 'gang related' activity (The Times, 23 February 2007),4 from the regulation of YouTube (Guardian, 26 August 2007) to the banning of American hip-hop artists from touring the UK, from the establishment of witness protection schemes for witnesses to 'gang' crime and intimidation (Daily Telegraph, 20 September 2007) to the establishment of 'safe houses' for those escaping

'gangs' (*Daily Express*, 15 June 2007). In September last year, Home Secretary Jacqui Smith announced the establishment of a £1million 'Tackling Gangs Action Programme' (Home Office, 2007) which establishes a dedicated national 'gang' unit focused on gang 'hotspots' – London, Greater Manchester, Liverpool and Birmingham – and targeting gun crime. Tellingly, the same month, Children's Minister Ed Balls and London Mayor Ken Livingstone announced a £60 million investment in London's youth services

aimed at teenagers 'at risk of sliding into antisocial behaviour and gang activity', an initiative touted by Ed Balls as 'the biggest investment in youth services for a generation' (*Guardian*, 20 September 2007).

In May 2007, the Metropolitan Police Service published a 'Response to Guns, Gangs and Knives in London' (and the apparent inseparability of these three elements is itself revealing), which identified 171 active 'gangs' in London,<sup>5</sup> linked to a 'wide range of criminal offences'.<sup>6</sup> The press reported a sharp increase in police activity, with the *Daily Mail* reporting in February 2007, that in response to the murders of James Andre Smarrt-Ford, Michael Dosunmu and Billy Cox, 'Scotland Yard... launched a huge crackdown on teenage gun violence with armed units, mounted patrols and covert teams flooding the streets of South London' (*Daily Mail*, 16 February 2007).

<sup>3</sup> The Daily Express (16 February 2007) wrote of Billy 'Friends paying tribute to him yesterday referred to him as a "fallen soldier"'. The Daily Mail (14 February 2007) noted that Billy 'was drawn into the ruthless gang culture that plagues South London'.

<sup>4</sup> The Times headline on 23 February 2007 read 'Gang members face longer in jail to halt rise of urban child soldiers'.

From http://www.mpa.gov.uk/committees/cop/2007/070503/05.htm

<sup>6</sup> The Report notes that 'Of the five main offence types (burglary, criminal damage, robbery, theft and handling, and violence against the person), robbery has seen the greatest increase'.

In March, Manchester police 'carried out dawn raids on 21 houses...in a major crackdown on gun crime' (Daily Mail, 1 March 2007), while in June, the Daily Mail reported again on 'Police hit squads to tackle teen gangs' (Daily Mail, 28 June 2007), with the launch of 'Operation Curb' targeting 'gangs' and violent offenders across London. In Merseyside, 'Armed officers in full bullet-proof armour have been speaking to schoolchildren aged between five and seven in special assemblies to warn them against becoming involved in gangs and gun crime' (Guardian, 6 March 2007). Merseyside's Chief Constable Bernard Hogan Howe has proposed evicting families of young people involved with gun crime (Daily Telegraph, 27 February 2007), and Metropolitan Police Commissioner Sir Ian Blair has argued that younger siblings of 'gang' members should be placed on the child protection register (Daily Telegraph, 5 May 2007; Guardian, 3 May 2007).7 Police and politicians alike have called for the return of 'traditional policing' (Daily Express, 18 February 2007 and 12 April 2007), and with the debate over the relaxation and extension of the controversial stop and search laws in the early months of 2008, it seems this issue is back on the political agenda (Guardian, 31 January 2008).

'Armed officers in full bullet-proof armour have been speaking to schoolchildren aged between five and seven in special assemblies to warn them against becoming involved in gangs and gun crime'.

The role of the police in defining 'the gang problem', and in providing a response to it, is a telling one. Ahead of the public and political furore of 2007, the Metropolitan Police set up the Violent Crime Directorate in 2006 to deal with guns and 'gangs', while Manchester's 'Operation Xcalibre', has been operating for four years combining community outreach initiatives with 'hard' policing tactics (*Daily Telegraph*, 11 August 2007). Research and reports from police sources have been central in defining what a 'gang' is and what the external, recognizable features of 'gangs' are. A Home Office report on 'Shootings, Gangs and Violent Incidents in Manchester' (Bullock and

Tilley, 2002), which explored the development of gang and gun crime reduction strategies in the city, defines 'gangs' as 'relatively enduring identifiable groups of young people who see themselves as members of those groups, and who commit crime as part of that membership' (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 23). The Metropolitan Police (2007) have defined a 'gang' as 'a relatively durable, predominantly street based group of people who see themselves (and are seen by others) as a discernible group for whom crime and violence is integral to the group's identity'. However, both reports note the boundaries of what constitutes 'a gang' is often blurred, with the MPS noting the 'inconsistency on interpretation' between peer groups, gangs and criminal networks. Bullock and Tilley note 'The definition of gangs is problematic... In one sense almost all who belong to informal groups might be deemed to be "gang" members, although few of these would include crime as a major focus of activity. Most adolescents, in particular, belong to peer groups' (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 23). Both reports note the vast variation in affiliation, criminal activities and 'cultural makeup' (MPS, 2007) that this broader categorization encompasses, in which potentially any group of young people could be

seen as 'a gang'. Significantly, although both reports share a similar definition of 'a gang', the Greater Manchester police identify only four 'gangs', with a collective membership of less than 200, while the MPS have identified 171 'gangs', with over a quarter having 21-50 'members' and an additional 18% having over 50 'members'.

There are, however, some shared characteristics which define 'gang' membership from the police perspective: both reports agree that 'gangs' are an almost exclusively male terrain (90% in London and 89% in Manchester), with women playing secondary and supporting roles;<sup>10</sup> that they are made up of predominantly *young* men, and that the age of membership is decreasing;<sup>11</sup> and that 'gangs' are predominantly drawn from minority ethnic – particularly African Caribbean – communities. Bullock and Tilley

<sup>7</sup> The Daily Telegraph adds, rather chillingly, that these proposals were 'welcomed' by The Children's Society.

<sup>8</sup> Stan Cohen has argued in Folk Devils and Moral Panics (Cohen, 1980) that 'As society's officially designated agents of civil power, the police play a crucial role in the labelling process' (p. 91).

<sup>9</sup> These are the Gooch, Doddington, Pitt Bull Crew and Longsight Crew (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 23)

<sup>10</sup> The MPS report identifies three female 'gangs' in London, but notes 'female gangs may not follow the same structure as male gangs and therefore are not identified in the same way'.

The MPS note that the peak age for 'gang' victims and offenders in 2004 was 24, and by 2006 this had decreased to 19, with 'a substantial number of individuals being much younger than this'. The Manchester 2002 report noted that 'The age profiles of the gangs vary. Newer gangs tend to be comprised of younger members' (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 27), but also that the average age of gun crime victims was 20 and of likely offenders was 21 (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 19).

note that in Manchester 79% of known 'gang' members were African-Caribbean or mixed race, 12 while the MPS estimate that 50% of the identified 'gangs' in London are from the African-Caribbean community. 13 In Manchester the 'non-white population' had 'substantially higher rates

of serious crime' than whites (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 14)<sup>14</sup> while the MPS reports that 75% of all victims of firearm homicides and 79% of suspects come from the African-Caribbean community, with so-called 'Trident murders' under the age of 20 increasing from 31 in 2003 to 79 in 2006 (an increase from 16% to 31% of all victims). The MPS also points to the pivotal role of immigration, with 'emerging gangs from new communities... [whose] young people appear to have a disproportionate negative impact on their peer groups' (MPS, 2007).

It is this latter aspect - the association of 'gangs' with ethnic minority (predominantly black) young people and communities - that has come to dominate the popular press, political and policy response in the past 18 months.<sup>16</sup> In February 2007, Tony Blair was quoted as claiming 'It is about a specific problem within a specific criminal culture to do with guns and gangs' (Daily Mail, 18 February 2007, my emphasis). By April, which 'specific culture' he was talking about was made explicit, 'The black community - the vast majority of whom in these communities are decent, law-abiding people horrified at what is happening - need to be mobilized in denunciation of this gang culture that is killing innocent young black kids. But we won't stop this by pretending it isn't young black kids doing it' (Daily Express, 11 April 2007, my emphasis).<sup>17</sup> Although previously acknowledging that 'In truth, most young people are perfectly decent and law-abiding, more likely to be the victims than perpetrators of crime.... Most young black boys are not involved in knife and gun gangs' (ibid), Blair's slippage between 'black kids', 'gangs', 'criminal cultures' and 'the black community' serves to collectivize the

The collectivisation (or communitisation) of this 'specific criminal culture' is one problem; another is the way in which the 'gang' as myth has been (mis) read as reality; a third is the speed at which the 'gang' has moved from mythmaking to policy making.

problem as one specific to, arising from and potentially encompassing, the black community as a whole.

The collectivization (or communitization) of this 'specific criminal culture' is one problem; another is the way in which the 'gang' as myth has been (mis)read as reality; a third is the speed at which the 'gang' has moved from mythmaking to policy making. Of course, the conflation of 'gangs', crime, errant masculinities and black cultures is a potent image, one replete with all the certainties of what passes for 'commonsense'. Over the past year in particular, 'the gang' has dominated the media, political and popular imagination, fusing notions of 'feral' masculinities and youth in crisis with the threat of implosive cultures against the backdrop of urban alienation and incipient warfare. The Sun newspaper has recently launched a 'Nail the Thugs' campaign (Sun, 21 January 2008), in which former headteacher Stuart Newton ascribes the 'phased massacre of fifty young people on the streets of Britain in 2007' to 'the downward spiral of Britain, the impotent police, the complacent politicians and the end-of-civilisation-as-weknow-it' (my emphasis) in the face of the 'feral youths on our streets'.

'The gang' has become, in fact, a contemporary urban legend. However, this doesn't make it either right or helpful in understanding what is actually going on, or how the problems of youth violence might be addressed. Indeed, in May 2007 a report from the Youth Justice Board warned against the use of the term 'gang' for precisely this reason:

<sup>12</sup> Sixteen per cent are white, 4% Asian and 1% 'Oriental' background (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 25). Importantly, 7 out of 8 identified 'gang' members were born in Greater Manchester, and only 1 in 40 born outside the UK. Interestingly the report notes, in passing, that crime 'firms' in Manchester, which are 'more organised, more instrumental and more specifically focused on crime' tended to be 'white, older and less visible in public places' (Bullock and Tilley, 2002: 27). The difference in terminology is significant.

<sup>13</sup> There is some lack of clarity in this figure as to whether this refers just to African-Caribbeans or also African groups

<sup>14</sup> Ethnic minorities were five times more likely to be victims of murder and attempted murder, and twice as likely to be seriously wounded, as white people. There were over three times the number of crimes involving firearms for BME communities than white communities, and over three times as many BME victims of crimes involving firearms.

<sup>15</sup> Twenty-three per cent of victims and 42% of those accused of knife enabled crime are African-Caribbean (MPA, 2007).

<sup>16</sup> For example, 'Black Kids to Blame for Knife and Gun Murders, says Blair' (Daily Express, 12 April 2007).

<sup>17</sup> http://www.number10.gov.uk/output/page11472.asp

Recently there has been a noticeable trend towards referring to groups of young people *indiscriminately* as gangs. This is not appropriate and it could exacerbate the extent and seriousness of group-related offending or *create problems where none previously existed....* Most young people involved in group offending do not belong to gangs – even if others label them in this way (quoted in *Daily Express*, 23 May 2007, my emphasis).

'The gang' has become, in fact, a contemporary urban legend. However, this doesn't make it either right or helpful in understanding what is actually going on, or how the problems of youth violence might be addressed.

## Section II: What's in a Name? 'The Gang' in Social Theory

'The gang' has, of course, been part of the British imagination of 'the city' for centuries - as long, perhaps, as there have been streets and feckless young men to gather in them. As long ago as the 1600s, there were reports of young men who 'found amusement in breaking windows, demolishing taverns, assaulting the watch' (Pearson, 1983, cited in Hobbs, 1997: 803), while East End 'gangs' were a potent focus of Victorian fears over the 'dangerous classes'. The surveillance and control of young men in public spaces has kept pace with these fears, with the establishment of vagrancy laws proving a telling precursor to today's SUS legislation. The academic and empirical exploration of 'the gang' is, however, primarily a phenomenon of the 20th century, and of the North American city. Although 'gangs' have been identified and researched across the globe, the dominant arena for research on 'gangs' remains the United States, and it is from this long established history of research that the key definitional features of 'the gang' emerge.

#### The 'Classic Gang'

Sociological research on 'gangs' finds its roots in the work of the Chicago School in early 20th century America. The earliest academic definition of 'the gang' was Puffer, who in 1912 placed 'the gang' as 'one of three primary groups... the family, the neighbourhood, and the play group' (cited in Hobbs, 1997: 803). The most famous of these early studies is Thrasher's study

The Gang (Thrasher, 1927), which drew on census and court data, observations, personal documents and interviews, in its exploration of 1313 identified juvenile 'gangs' in Chicago's 'Poverty Belt' and has proved foundational for subsequent generations of 'gang' research. Like Puffer, Thrasher understood 'the gang' primarily as a 'play group' which provided an important source of social support in the transitional

period between childhood and adulthood, particularly in environments characterized by socio-economic marginalization and social disorganization. Rather than standing in opposition to family and community, early studies saw 'the gang' as providing a supportive social structure based on clearly defined roles and mutual obligations rooted within the community itself (Whyte, 1943). Suttles thus argued in *The Social Order of the Slum* (Suttles,

1968: 172–3) that 'gangs' worked as a community defence mechanism and were 'hardly the unruly and unreachable youths that we are led to expect.... The street corner groups not only make their members known to the rest of the neighbourhood, but create a network of personal acquaintances that augment those already in existence'.

The key features of these classic approaches to 'the gang' are:

- A form of social organization associated with processes of urban migration
- Arising in areas of weak social organization and authority
- Excluded from full participation in mainstream society
- Formed through competition for control over territory
- An internal structure and loyalty reinforced through conflict
- Hierarchically organized with clearly defined roles
- A locus for identity production/solidarity

In the context of the current discussion, two key points are worth emphasizing. The first is the association of 'gangs' with immigrant communities, and with the social disorganization inherent in such transitional and marginalized social settings. 'Gangs' are thus seen as part of a series of transitions – from 'immigrant' to 'native', from youth to adulthood, from outsider to the mainstream social order. They are also, relatedly,

inseparable from notions of poverty, social breakdown and cultural conflict in ethnically mixed urban contexts. However, it is important to stress that, although often ethnically rooted and organized, in these early studies, 'the gang' was not associated with a specific racial group. For example, just over 7 per cent of Thrasher's 'gangs' were black and conflict was largely between white ethnic immigrant groups. The second key point is the comparatively broad range of groups and activities that fall within the remit of 'the gang' and the placing of 'the gang' as an issue of (male) youth identity rather than criminality or violence. Thrasher's 'gangs', for example, encompassed a range of youth formations including sports clubs as well as groups of violent street criminals.

#### The 'Modern Gang'

From the 1950s and 1960s, however, 'gang studies' became a distinct field and 'the gang' itself has been reshaped and redefined. What we can perhaps think of as 'the modern gang' is closely tied to the emergence of criminology, which shifted 'gang' research away from the sociology of youth and has placed criminal activity and violent conflict as essential elements of 'gang' development and definition. Studies such as Cloward and Ohlin's Delinquency and Opportunity (Cloward and Ohlin, 1960) and Cohen's Delinquent Boys (Cohen, 1955) saw 'gangs' as groups of individuals who come together around a set of deviant values and lifestyles in which violence and crime are central. These studies saw 'gangs' as a reaction to the failure to accommodate middle-class norms and values - what is known as 'strain theory'. This failure is compounded by the blocking of opportunities for marginalized young men to achieve mainstream success and recognition, leading them to retreat to an exaggerated performance of masculine strength signalled through violence. Yablonsky's influential study of The Violent Gang (Yablonsky, 1962) thus saw 'gangs' as an alternative family where delinquent and criminal careers are nurtured, and where 'gang' membership becomes conflictual with family and community norms.<sup>18</sup>

Cloward and Ohlin's seminal study Delinquency and Opportunity (1960) also argued that rather than a temporary feature of transitional migrant groups, 'gangs' took different shapes in different kinds of neighbourhoods. They drew a distinction between 'organized slums' which produced highly structured and instrumental 'criminal gangs' and 'disorganized slums' which produced the more archetypal 'street gangs' centred on violence. Pitts has recently argued (2007) that this distinction can be read through 'race' with white immigrant communities inhabiting 'organized slums' while black and Hispanic communities are the inhabitants of the 'disorganized slums' and, in consequence, the inheritors of the modern 'street gang'. The notion of the 'disorganized slum' chimed with contemporary concerns about the entrenched processes of social disadvantage amongst African American and Hispanic communities in US cities and underscored the recognition that – for some at least – the melting pot had proved illusory (Glazer and Moynihan, 1963). Emerging theories of the American underclass thus argued that social marginalization was more than a simple transitory phase in the social ecology of the city or the nation, and this was linked to ideas of embedded cultural forms - what Oscar Lewis termed in his study of Puerto Rican communities 'a culture of poverty' (1966).

The 'modern gang' develops the definition of the 'classic gang' in four key ways:

- 1) The 'modern gang' centralizes criminality and violent conflict;
- 2) The 'modern gang' is seen as a *permanent* feature of specific marginalized communities;
- 3) 'Modern gang studies' have been focused on racial rather than ethnic difference particularly in Hispanic and African American communities;
- 4) The 'modern gang' is located within an underclass position in which 'culture' rather than social structure is seen as the primary explanation.

#### The 'Criminal Gang'

The studies mentioned above, however, were largely theoretical in nature, and since the 1970s there has been a proliferation of both quantitative and qualitative empirical studies that have explored the diversity of 'gang' life and experience. This is partly due to the perception of 'gangs' as a major and growing social problem, and also to the apparently increasing involvement of 'gangs' in organized crime, particularly around drugs (Klein, 1995). 'Gangs' have, then, become a primary focus of criminal justice policy and

<sup>18</sup> However, Yablonsky also saw 'gangs' as 'near groups', and laid stress on the impermanence and fluidity of 'gang' formation and membership.

social control, with the expansion of 'gang' task forces across major US cities. From the 1980s onwards, these crime-oriented and policy-led approaches have tended to harden the edges of 'the gang' and laid stress on internal hierarchies and external boundaries, linked particularly to territorial control of drugs (especially crack cocaine) markets. 'Street gangs' have been increasingly understood as professionalized criminal enterprises located within an underclass alternative economy (Bourgois, 1996; Venkatesh, 2000, 2008), with links to prison gang cultures (Moore, 1978).<sup>19</sup> The FBI, for example, has redefined the 'gang' focus exclusively to 'Violent Street Gang/Drug Enterprise', and notes 'From the FBI's perspective a gang is a group of individuals involved in continuing criminal activity. A gang does not have to have similar clothing (colors), tattoos, hand signs, initiation rituals, or even have a specific name' (in Decker 2007: 389, original emphasis). 'Race' remains a defining characteristic, however, with Decker asserting 'Males, inner city residents and Hispanics and African Americans are disproportionately involved in gang violence, both as victims and perpetrators' (Decker, 2007: 398).

The ratcheting up of 'the gang' in studies of this period sees the blurring of boundaries between youth groups, street 'gangs' and organized crime that has become all too common, 20 carrying with it the increase in levels of violence, use of firearms and drugs. In the public and media perception particularly, as Decker argues 'when the term "gangs" is mentioned... the context typically includes a violent event' (Decker, 2007: 388). At the same time, 'gang studies' have become increasingly narrow in focus, excluding other forms of (white) youth identity and culture – as for example with football 'firms', fraternities, mobs, clubs, skinheads or motorcycle 'gangs' - while promoting its crime-centred version of

black youth culture. Katz and Jackson-Jacobs thus note that 'gang studies' results in 'staining the group as a whole with an image of deviance' (Katz and Jackson-Jacobs, 2004: 103) and provides 'a dominant image in what outsiders imagine about the population that gangs are taken to represent' (ibid). In other words, 'the gang' stands for the individual, community, the ethnicity, the culture, the race.

#### The 'Mythical Gang'

Nevertheless, the burgeoning empirical studies of 'gangs', both in the United States and across the globe, have pointed to the wide variety in how 'gangs' are formed and lived, and have contested any clear meaning to the term. Some researchers have argued that it is this breadth and complexity that is the primary significance of 'the gang', while others have argued that this renders the concept useless as an explanatory framework. Others still have argued for a recognition of 'the gang' as a myth or fiction, generated by the media, institutions of social control and 'the gangs' themselves. Katz and Jackson-Jacobs thus describe 'the criminologist's gang' as 'mythical matters from the start' (Katz and Jackson-Jacobs, 2004: 115), while Klein has argued that the concept of 'gangs' has been shaped by media fantasies such as 'West Side Story' and 'Colors' (Klein, 2001). Howell has similarly pointed to the role of the media in creating a series of misrepresentations and distortions about 'gangs', including that:

- 'Gangs' are a monolithic phenomenon;
- 'Gang' members are male and from ethnic or racial minorities;
- 'Gangs' are an urban problem that are spreading across the country;
- 'Gangs' are hierarchical organizations with established leaders and clear rules;
- Violence is a pervasive part of 'gang' culture (Howell, 2007: 40).

Katz and Jackson-Jacobs similarly note that 'mythmaking is one of the central activities of males in gangs... The central myth is that the gang exists'.

The 'reality' of the American 'gang' is often both much more complex and mundane: Howell argues that the majority of 'gangs' are informal, disorganised and transient, diverse in form and activities, found in a range of locations and with a gendered and racial/ethnic composition that accordingly varies widely.<sup>21</sup> He notes further that 'gangs themselves create myths' (Howell, 2007: 39), most particularly around what has

<sup>19</sup> Conversely, others have argued that the loose structure of 'street gangs' renders them unable to compete within major drugs markets (Decker and Van Winkle, 1996).

<sup>20</sup> In the UK context, Pitts' (2007) study of 'Reluctant Gangsters' is a good example of this blurring.

<sup>21</sup> Howell notes: 'gang members are predominantly white in white communities and mainly African-American in predominantly African-American communities. Women account for 25-50% of "gang members" in certain locations'. (Howell, 2007: 43)

been termed 'Big Gang Theory', in which 'gang members' exaggerate their strength, numbers and cohesion either for self-defence or to enhance their reputation: Katz and Jackson-Jacobs similarly note that 'mythmaking is one of the central activities of males in gangs... The central myth is that the gang exists' (Katz and Jackson-Jacobs, 2004: 92).

#### The 'Transatlantic Gang'

Despite widely recognized problems in the definition, understanding and measurement of 'gangs', the mythical American 'gang' has travelled across the Atlantic largely intact, and arrived fully formed on the streets of Britain's cities - or at least in the imaginations of the press, politicians and policy makers. Len Duvall, Chair of the Metropolitan Police Association was recently reported as stating that 'there has been an "Americanization" on London's streets which has seen more gangs carrying knives and fights over postcode rivalries' (The London Paper, 3 January 2007). It might be more accurate to argue, however, that the current furore reflects more an increasing Americanization of the understanding of the phenomenon, and the institutional response, rather than of the phenomenon itself. Certainly the mythic elements in the construction of 'the gang' in the UK discussed above are clearly apparent: the focus on bounded, organized and hierarchical entities, the links with urban, ethnic minority/immigrant young men, the prevalence of crime and violence. A recent report by Lambeth council, for example, has claimed that the 'Peel Dem Crew' in Brixton has 2500 members, with a hierarchical structure and membership involved with drug dealing and street robberies. The London Paper (14 February 2008) noted that 'The "PDC" has been one of London's most feared gangs since it was set up in the 1990s and Lee Jasper, former aide to the London Mayor, once described the group as "as tough to crack as the IRA"'.

# 'there is little evidence to suggest that there are many US-style gangs in the UK'.

Most academic research into 'gangs' in Britain has, however, remained more cautious about this supposedly new phenomenon, and critical of the unthinking importation of the American 'gang' model to such a different national, historical and geographical space. Even Hallsworth and Young,

whose definition of 'the gang' formed the basis of the MPS report (which discovered 171 'gangs' in London on this basis) have stated strongly that there is no evidence 'to support the idea that the UK is home to US style gangs' (Hallsworth and Young, 2004: 12-13). Similarly, Marshall and colleagues, in their review of current research on 'gangs' and guns note that 'there is little evidence to suggest that there are many US-style gangs in the UK' (Marshall et al., 2005: 6) and argue 'with such ambiguity surrounding "gangs" and continuing problems of definition, a solution might be to abandon the use of the term and focus instead on the problem [of] behaviour... The word 'gang' conjures up stereotypical images that are misleading at best, and destructive at worst' (ibid: 7). They point to two main, and related, concerns: one is the application of the term to any group of young men perceived as threatening, and the second is the racialization of this threat, 'the stereotypic image portrayed by the media is one of organized groups of violent offenders (mostly of Black African-Caribbean descent) brandishing guns, dealing drugs and constantly involved in bloody inter-gang conflicts' (ibid: 6). The picture is, unsurprisingly, more complex, with Marshall and colleagues pointing to findings that both White British and Black Caribbean young men are more likely than Black African or South Asian youth to claim 'gang' membership (Marshall et al., 2005) while Bennett and Holloway note that 'gang' involvement in Manchester varied in ethnic composition across areas (Bennett and Holloway, 2004: 307). The latter argue, based on data from the New English and Welsh Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring (NEW-ADAM) programme, covering 1999-2002, that 'gang members' in England and Wales are typically male, aged under 25 years and white.<sup>22</sup>

The Americanization of youth identity is itself not a new phenomenon: post-war studies of white working class youth in Britain have pointed to the 'borrowed cultural imperialism'

(Cohen, 1980: 20) of American popular culture that marked the arrival of youth subcultural forms such as the Teddy Boys, the Mods and Rockers, which each sparked their own moral panics. This

Americanization amounted often to little more than 'drape suits, picture ties and an American slouch', in Hoggart's memorable phrase (Hoggart, 1957, cited in Hobbs, 2006: 120), while as Hobbs

<sup>22</sup> See Also Pitts, 2007: 'gang memberships is ultimately determined by the social predicament of gang members rather than their race or ethnicity'.

#### There are 4 crucial issues:

- 1) There is considerable confusion over what constitutes 'a gang' and what experiences, activities and identities this label encompasses.
- 2) 'The gang' carries with it a series of moral, institutional and political judgements about the nature of group identity.
- 3) Contrary to the evidence, the history of the term has linked 'gangs' with black, minority ethnic and immigrant young men.
- 4) This results in the potential ascription of 'gang' labels to all groups of BME young men, while defining out acts of group based violence or criminal activity by majority/white youth.

has commented that although British youth 'attempted to adapt teenage culture that had originated in Memphis, Brooklyn and California, to church hall dances, chip shops and damp back alleys, Sharks and Jets it clearly was not' (Hobbs, 2006: 119). Downes' classic empirical study of East End youth deviance, The Delinquent Solution (Downes, 1966), noted that rather than 'gangs', white working class youth were 'street corner groups' enacting acts of 'mundane delinquency' (Hobbs, 2006: 117) rooted in the frustrations of educational and occupational limitations, and simple boredom. It is worth reflecting that the space of Downes' research (London's East End) is one of those most closely associated today with 'gang' conflict and violence, though the 'street corner groups' are now marked through racial, ethnic and religious difference rather than class.

Interestingly, the one study that does echo American work on 'gangs' is Patrick's controversial study (1973) *A Glasgow Gang Observed*, which noted a cross-generational tradition of 'gang' formation and territorially based collective violence based on housing estates and entrenched conditions of social deprivation.<sup>23</sup> Inevitably, given the location, these 'gangs'

were exclusively white.<sup>24</sup> The majority of other empirical work on youth deviance is located in sociology and cultural studies and focuses on subcultural identity, particularly around class; however, such groupings, while they may share some of the external features of 'gangs' (i.e. collective identity expressed through dress, language, music, etc) do not constitute 'gangs' in themselves - although, perhaps, they are often mistaken for them. This is particularly the case with minority ethnic cultural forms and identities, in which black cultures are associated with deviance, criminality and threat (Gilroy, 1987; Alexander, 1996, 2000). My own work on The Asian Gang (Alexander, 2000) suggests that too often groups of young Black and Asian men are seen as 'gangs', criminalized and then dealt with on this basis, by the police, in schools, in their communities and on the street.

So, what's in a name? For me, there are four crucial issues:

- 1) In both the US and UK, there is considerable confusion over what constitutes 'a gang' and what experiences, activities and identities this label encompasses. This is underpinned in the UK situation by a lack of in depth and sustained empirical research. Nevertheless, in the current setting, the American version of 'the gang' has been imported into the UK, and carries with it a set of embedded meanings and values.
- 2) Thus, rather than a neutral social descriptor, 'the gang' carries with it a series of moral, institutional and political judgements about the nature of group identity, particularly in association with crime and violence. It also blurs the distinction between youth, street gangs and organized crime.
- 3) Contrary to the evidence, the history of the term has linked 'gangs' with black, minority ethnic and immigrant young men who are seen as locked inescapably into cycles of deprivation and alienation based on cultural disadvantage ('cultures of poverty').
- 4) This results in the potential ascription of 'gang' labels to *all* groups of BME young

<sup>23</sup> Patrick's study has been criticized for having given too much credence to local myths of 'gang' violence from 'gang members'.

A Dispatches documentary on 'gangs' in early 2008 drew interesting comparisons between 'black gangs' of South London and 'white gangs' in Glasgow, where comparable levels of serious violence and injury were to be found. It is worth noting that these Glasgow 'gangs' have not formed part of the current media and policy debates.

men, while *defining out* acts of group-based violence or criminal activity by majority/ white youth. This act of boundary marking then serves to reinforce the association of 'gangs' with 'race' and ethnicity, and has an additional spatial dimension, linking 'race' and violence with particular inner-city/ urban areas.<sup>25</sup> This has serious implications for issues of policy and social control (for example, around stop and search).

#### Section III: The Problem of 'The Gang'

As should by now be clear, the concept of 'the gang' is one marked more by disagreement and debate than by clarity and consensus, even in its North American birthplace. Its boundaries are fluid and slippery, its membership uncertain, its activities opaque, its history marked more by convenient fictions of urban masculinities and race than by empirical insight. Nevertheless, 'the gang' continues to exercise a powerful hold on our imagination, and carries with it a seductive set of associations around (inner) city life and the ghetto fabulous/threatening 'Other' that has proved remarkably resilient to the mass of contradictory evidence. One possible explanation for this enduring fascination is the way in which 'the gang' works as a symbol for a broad range of social tensions and concerns, and provides a convenient, identifiable and

familiar scapegoat. It is illuminating here to compare the current discussion of 'the gang' with the construction of the moral panic around 'mugging' that dominated the 1970s, and rehearsed similar ideas of race, masculinity and crime. Hall et al.'s classic study, *Policing the Crisis* (published exactly 30 years ago) explored the ways in which the notion

'The gang' continues to exercise a powerful hold on our imagination, and carries with it a seductive set of associations around (inner) city life and the ghetto fabulous/threatening 'Other' that has proved remarkably resilient to the mass of contradictory evidence.'

25 The choice of urban targets for the new gangs task force, based on 'gang' and gun crime 'hotspots' is revealing – London, Liverpool, Manchester and Birmingham (Home Office, 10 September 2007). The racialization of young (black or white) people living in urban/inner city spaces is a key dimension of thinking 'gangs'.

of 'mugging' was imported into the UK from America with a set of embedded meanings around inner city deprivation, racial conflict and incipient social unrest; a 'whole referential context' which travelled with the term to Britain, framing the public fear, moral outrage and policy response through notions of 'race', masculinity and youth. 'Mugging' then worked as a code for 'black crime' and for the unwanted presence of black/immigrant communities (Hall et al., 1978; Gilroy, 1987) – very much, indeed, as 'the gang' does today.

I would argue then that rather than having a 'gang' problem in any empirical sense, what we are faced with is the problem of thinking 'the gang'. By this, I mean not only that we are unsure what we mean by 'the gang', but that using 'the gang' to a large extent does our thinking for us, or even prevents us thinking about the nature of the problem we have. In this final section, then, I want to reflect on 'the problem of the gang' - i.e. I want to explore the consequences of thinking 'the gang' using the framework discussed in Section II and linking it specifically to the current media, political and policy representations of 'the gang' outlined in Section I. There are three aspects of this 'problem' I want to explore here: 1) the problem of 'race'; 2) the problem of history, and 3) the problem of 'culture'.

using 'the gang' to a large extent does our thinking for us, or even prevents us thinking about the nature of the problem we have.

The Problem of 'Race'

One of the key consequences of thinking 'the gang'

in its current, Americanized form is the association with 'race', most particularly the correlation between 'the gang' and Black (African-Caribbean) communities. The construction of 'the gang' in the press and by politicians and policy makers has made this link explicit, from Tony Blair's evocation of 'the black community', to the MPS's assertion of the prevalence of 'black' gangs and the association of youth violence with so-called 'Trident murders'. The definition of 'the gang problem'

as primarily one of 'race' was reiterated by a spokesman for the CRE after Blair's comments: 'Action needs to be taken now to prevent the

needless deaths of more young black boys. Unfortunately, it comes as no surprise that some young black men are becoming involved in gang cultures and criminal activities... As a society we are failing young black kids' (*Daily Telegraph*, 13 April 2007).

There are a number of problems inherent in the construction of 'the gang' through the image of black youth. Firstly, the correlation of 'gang cultures and criminal activities' with 'young black boys' serves to collectively implicate and criminalize all 'young black boys' and, by extension, the broader 'black community'. Secondly, the reduction of the problem to this one group belies the far more complex picture of youth deviance and violence that has emerged - for example, the London murder victims (and perpetrators) of 2007 came from a range of communities, including White, Asian, and Turkish, and included young women as well as young men. Thirdly, the focus on 'race' as the primary signifier homogenizes 'the black community', erasing differences between and within African, Caribbean and Black British experiences and positions, and eliding any distinction between new migrant and long established communities. Consequently, what seems to bind these disparate groups together is a biological and phenotypical identification – the 'fact of blackness' to use Fanon's (1967/1986) powerful term - and this serves to naturalize and transfix through biology what begs to be understood socially and historically.

A related issue is the linking of 'the gang' to broader contemporary concerns around immigration and asylum. As noted above, the MPS report drew specific attention to the challenges posed by 'immigrant' youth gangs, while stories linking 'asylum seeker gangs', 'immigrant gangs' and organized crime have been common in the tabloid press.26 As argued above, 'the gang' is classically understood as arising out of transitional immigrant communities, a stage on the way to becoming citizens, and the focus on 'immigrant' youth gangs chimes very neatly with the current government and policy obsession with segregation, integration and community cohesion. Indeed, it might be argued that 'the gang' is a parody of 'cohesive community' - the embodiment of the multicultural nation in crisis. However, by conflating issues of immigration with the fixed certainties of 'race', and the spectre of 'difference', the danger is that 'the gang' – and by

extension, 'the black community' - is positioned as permanently outside of, and opposed to, the broader national community<sup>27</sup> (Alexander, 2007; Gilroy, 1987), along with the rights and protections of citizenship.<sup>28</sup>

#### The Problem of History

A second problem with the current debate is the insistence on the *newness* of the phenomenon, particularly its 'Americanized' dimensions - the 'postcode wars', the rise of gun and knife violence, the scale and spread of 'gang culture', the association with 'new' (for which read black and immigrant) communities. There are three broad concerns around the absence of an historical perspective on 'the gang'.

Firstly, the focus on 'the new' erases continuities with a longer, and very British, history of (white) youth identities and their associated moral panics. This in turn reinscribes the association with racial difference, thereby isolating 'the gang' from a broader social, cultural and historical context in which youth identities take shape.

Secondly, the current debate fails to locate 'the gang' in a longer post-war historical context around black folk devils,29 and in particular the association of black young men with crime, violence and danger (Alexander, 1996, 2000; CCCS, 1982; Gilroy, 1987). For example, Policing the Crisis (Hall, 1978) unpacked the same stereotypes of black cultures of poverty, pathologized families, identity crisis, crime and hyper-masculinity, as have emerged in the recent debates, if now updated with a hi-gloss American cultural veneer. What people are saying about 'gangs' today was said about muggers in the 1970s, rioters in the 1980s and 'Yardies' in the 1990s, and these stereotypes have been consistently revealed to be more about fantasy than reality - or as Paul Gilroy has termed it 'the myth of black criminality' (Gilroy, 1987). The current construction of 'the gang' is, of course, disingenuously building on these commonsense 'knowledges' about black youth and crime in a way that allows 'the gang' to be read as raced, and enables us to decode references to 'specific criminal cultures', 'the inner city', 'immigrant'

<sup>26</sup> For example, the Daily Express reported on 22 April 2007 on '40 immigrant gangs taking over UK's crime'.

<sup>27</sup> The Daily Express commented on 24 August 2007, after the shooting of Rhys Jones, 'This country has never been invaded, but now, truly, the army of the enemy is within. We are at war'.

<sup>28</sup> For example, the Sun newspaper wrote on 10 May 2007 in an article titled 'Slam door on youths from warlord cultures' that Britain should 'Close the door to youngsters from these countries. Our streets and our people would be safer. Surely that's all that matters?'.

<sup>29</sup> Cohen (1980: 10) defines folk devils as 'distinguishable social types... visible reminders of what we should not be'.

or 'urban youth' in ways that are highly racially targeted. However, placing 'the gang' within the longer history of black folk devils also allows us to refocus on the mythic elements of 'the gang' and to explore the broader social, economic and political contexts in which these discourses take shape and assume the status of 'truth'.

explanations of 'the gang' say more about the construction of racial/ cultural difference, defined against the norm of (white) Britishness, than about 'the gang' itself.

Thirdly, the current focus erases the recent historical image of 'the gang', which through the 1990s developed primarily in relation to Asian, and particularly Muslim, young men (Alexander, 2000). It is revealing to reflect on the reasons given at this time for 'Asian gang' membership: that Asian youth came from backward cultures at odds with the needs of modern life, that their parental cultures were too oppressive, that their family structures were too patriarchal, that they were insufficiently masculine: in other words, the direct opposite of the explanations of 'gangs' on offer today. Of course, there are some similarities - the focus on deviant cultures, identity crisis, cultures of poverty, on the attractions of violence, crime and drugs to compensate for a failed masculinity - but it is interesting to speculate that explanations of 'the gang' say more about the construction of racial/cultural difference, defined against the norm of (white) Britishness, than about 'the gang' itself. This is perhaps why 'white' 'gangs' have not formed a central part of the current media and policy debates, since this would focus on (structural) similarity rather than (cultural/racial) difference.30

#### The Problem of 'Culture'

The third problem is the reliance on 'culture' as a primary explanation for 'the gang' and 'gang violence'. Culture here is broadly understood in two ways; as marking ethnicity and difference (Alleyne, 2002; Sveinsson, 2008) or as attached to youth subcultures of deviance. The notion

of 'gang culture' uses these two formulations interchangeably, particularly in relation to 'black culture', with the blame distributed evenly between the failures of the family and community, and the attraction to hip-hop. For example, in August 2007, Jack Straw was reported as blaming 'violence and crime among young

black men on the fact that many grow up in homes without fathers... widespread educational failure among black boys and their attraction towards gangs which was caused not by poverty but a "cultural problem" (*Daily Mail*, 21 August 2007). Former Conservative Party leader Iain Duncan Smith wrote in the *Daily Mail*, 'An underclass now exists and at its heart, gang culture prevails.... For too many the gang

leader becomes their inspiration, assuming the role of a father figure but with a brutal code based on savage and violent discipline. In the midst of this sits rap music, celebrating and exciting the same values' (23 August 2007). Both Straw and Duncan Smith's comments were made after the release of the Reach Report (DCLG, 2007), on 'raising the aspirations and attainment of Black boys and young Black men', which argued – amongst many other points, most of which were lost in the media coverage (Sveinsson, 2008) – that there was a 'need for more Black male role models and more positive images of Black men' to counter peer pressure leading to 'gang activity'. The appeal to 'culture' has five consequences:

- 1) There is a collapse between the categories of 'culture' and those of 'race': this serves not only to homogenise a range of different ethnic groups, origins, migration histories, family circumstances and personal histories, but also to reduce everyone to a baseline of black identity constructed around a stereotype of 'the black family', which is actually itself a (discredited) stereotype of the African Caribbean family.
- 2) 'Black culture' is also conflated with commodified popular cultural forms, which is seen as spreading out from the inner city to white suburban youth (Sveinsson, 2008), such as Ben Hitchcock, and so incorporates even discrepant experiences into the remit of 'the gang' as a racialized construct. For example, John Pitts in his recent study of

<sup>30</sup> It is significant that where 'gang members' are white (as, for example, in the attacks on Rhys Jones or Ben Hitchcock) they are seen to have been 'tainted' by black cultures, particularly so-called 'gangsta rap' (c.f. Pitt, 2007. discussed below)

<sup>31</sup> The *Daily Mail's* version of the report was 'Black Boys must be encouraged to stop idolising rap stars and footballers if they are to be steered away from the gang and gun culture' (10 August 2007).

- Walthamstow, 'Reluctant Gangsters' (Pitts, 2007), acknowledges that 'gangs' were more estate- than ethnicity-based,<sup>22</sup> but comments 'Whatever their ethnic origin... gang members assume the style and manner dictated by popular, globalized, ostensibly "Black" street culture'.
- 3) As the Duncan Smith quote makes clear, 'culture' intersects in these debates with the notion of 'the underclass' which, like 'the gang', draws on an imported Americanized version of entrenched poverty linked to black 'cultures of poverty'. Although 'the underclass' in the UK context has been traditionally linked to white marginality, since the mid-1980s the concept has been understood as primarily a property of minority communities, particularly Muslims, and arising from intransigent or anachronistic cultural values and forms, linked to the idea of 'parallel lives' (Alexander, 2004, 2007). This means that there is no engagement with the broader context of social inequality or marginalization, and has the added advantage of placing the blame for any problems on black communities themselves. As Tony Blair commented 'It is not a general social disorder but specific groups of people who... are deciding not to abide by the same code of conduct as the rest of us' (Daily Express, 12 April 2007).
- 4) The collectivization that occurs due to the evocation of culture as a shared 'way of life' also obscures the need to understand the role and responsibility of the individual, and the particular, in acts of violence, crime or conflict. My own research (Alexander, 2005) suggests that the appeal to 'gang culture' substitutes for an analysis of both the specific circumstances and broader context of violence, working to place these incidents as at once self explanatory and outside of understanding 'gang culture' becomes a circular and self-fulfilling reason.
- 5) The criminalization of black 'cultures' also links to the history of social control of black cultural expressions and leisure spaces. The racialization of 'the gang' has been used to legitimate strong forms of intervention into black communities, whether on the street (with the reinvigoration of SUS procedures),

or in schools, clubs, on transport or, indeed, into the private sphere of the family itself. There are interesting parallels to be drawn here, as elsewhere, with the increased surveillance and control of South Asian/ Muslim communities and, indeed, Sir Ian Blair's earlier comment drawing together 'gangs' and 'terrorism' takes on a sinister resonance in this context.

the rush to label 'the gang problem' and to devise a range of interventions on this basis is in danger of creating the very circumstances it seeks to challenge.

## Section IV: Rethinking 'The Gang' in Policy and Practice

I would argue, then, that 'the gang' in its current definition and usage works more to obscure understandings of youth identities and conflict than illuminate them. 'The gang' offers a seemingly neat, and outwardly compelling, diagnosis and comes with a ready-made set of strategies to tackle the problem – a problem which it is by no means certain we actually have. However, the rush to label 'the gang problem' and to devise a range of interventions on this basis is in danger of creating the very circumstances it seeks to challenge - as has happened in the American situation, where social intervention programmes have often promoted 'gang' cohesion and proliferation (Klein, 1995). While not wishing to minimize the concerns around youth violence in Britain, I would argue that there is an urgent need to rethink what we mean by 'the gang', what work 'the gang' is doing for us and whether, in fact, 'the gang' is getting in the way of any effective response. While the debate continues to rage in the media, and policy makers and institutions seem hell bent on making 'the gang' a reality in policy and practice, I would offer the following suggestions on rethinking 'the gang':

1) The concept of 'the gang' is highly contested both in its definition and its application. Labelling 'the gang' runs the risk of attributing coherence and identity to often fluid and transitional youth group formations, and places issues of crime and violence at the centre. This blurs the

<sup>32</sup> Pitt notes that in the Pan-London Gang Profile 48% of 'gangs' were 'black and 21% 'Asian'.

boundaries between general youth activities, mundane deviance, crime and organized crime and runs the risk of criminalizing all young men in urban, public spaces. While the 'gang' label may be appropriate in a few very specific cases, given the difficulty in agreeing definition and usage, it would be better to abandon this term completely. Certainly, given its highly contested definitional boundaries, 'the gang' should not provide a basis for welfare intervention, legal categorization or punitive sentencing.

While the 'gang' label may be appropriate in a few very specific cases, given the difficulty in agreeing definition and usage, it would be better to abandon this term completely.

- 2) 'The gang' has developed in the American context with a specific focus on immigrant and ethnic minority young men, a usage that has been replicated in the current UK debate. This reinscribes the association of race, masculinity and crime and potentially results in the criminalization of all BME young men. There needs to be a decoupling of 'the gang' from ideas of racial and ethnic difference and specific 'inner city' locations. The focus should be on issues of youth crime or violence wherever they appear, so that conflict involving BME/'inner city' youth is not 'defined in' to 'the gang' and conflict involving white/suburban/ex-urban youth is not 'defined out'. This also has clear implications for issues of social intervention and social control.
- 3) Similarly, there needs to be a shift away from the discussion of 'culture' towards a recognition of the broader processes of social

- exclusion and marginalization at work in precipitating youth deviance or conflict. This would move away from a simple 'blame the victim' approach, avoid the criminalization of specific communities and allow for the examination of individual acts of violence in context.
- 4) The representation of 'the gang' in the present debate has relied on a mixture of speculation, statistical reports by institutions with a specific remit on crime, and hit-and-run journalistic accounts. There is very little sustained qualitative work into 'gangs' in Britain, while sociological accounts of youth cultures and identities have been excluded from the discussions. There is an urgent need for more intensive and long term empirical investigation into youth identities and violence that takes as its focus the mundane encounters of everyday life and conflict.
- 5) Intervention into youth conflict needs to be made on the basis of empirically grounded and local understanding and expertise. While the investment in youth services is to be welcomed, there are dangers in the current focus on 'gangs' that may have serious repercussions for those working with young people in the statutory and voluntary sector. Youth initiatives should avoid the labelling and criminalization of young people as 'gang members', and resist the linking of state funded youth initiatives to 'gang prevention' agenda. In addition, the current context poses an urgent challenge to those working with young people to think outside the narrow (and potentially self fulfilling) parameters of 'gang' life that political and funding imperatives determine, to address the real needs of young people in our cities and across our communities, not just those who fit the image of 'the gangster'.

# **Bibliography**

#### **Books and Journal Articles**

- Alexander, C. (1996) The Art of Being Black: The Creation of Black British Youth Identities. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Alexander, C. (2000) The Asian Gang: Ethnicity, Identity, Masculinity. Oxford: Berg.
- Alexander, C. (2004) 'Re-Imagining the Asian Gang: Ethnicity, Masculinity and Youth after "The Riots", *Critical Social Policy* 24(4): 526-49.
- Alexander, C. (2005) 'Embodying Violence: "Riots", Dis/order and the Private Lives of "The Asian Gang"', in C. Alexander and C. Knowles (ed.) *Making Race Matter: Bodies, Space and Identity*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Alexander, C. (2007) 'Imagining Cohesive Identities', in M. Wetherell, M. Lafleche and R. Berkeley (eds) *Identity, Ethnic Diversity and Community Cohesion*. London: SAGE.
- Alleyne, B. (2002) 'An Idea of Community and its Discontents', *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 25(4): 607-27.
- Bennett, T. and Holloway, K. (2004) 'Gang Membership, Drugs and Crime in the UK', *British Journal of Criminology* 44(3): 305-23.
- Bourgois, P. (1996) In Search of Respect. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Bullock, J. and Tilley, N. (2002) Shootings, Gangs and Violent Incidents in Manchester: Developing a Crime Reduction Strategy. London: Home Office.
- Centre for Contemporary Cultural Studies (1982) The Empire Strikes Back. London: Routledge
- Cloward, R.A. and Ohlin L.E. (1960) Delinquency and Opportunity: A Theory of Delinquent Gangs. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.
- Cohen, A. (1955) Delinquent Boys: The Culture of the Gang. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.
- Cohen, S. (1980) Folk Devils and Moral Panics. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Decker, S. (2007) 'Youth Gangs and Violent Behaviour', pp. 388-402 in Dan Flannery (ed.), The Cambridge Handbook of Violent Behavior and Aggression. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Decker, S. and Van Winkle, B. (1996) *Life in the Gang: Family, Friends and Violence*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Department for Communities and Local Government (2007) Reach: An Independent Report to Government on Raising the Aspirations and Attainment of Black Boys and Young Black Men. London: DCLG.
- Downes, D. (1966) The Delinquent Solution. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Fanon, F. (1967/1986) Black Skin, White Masks. London: Pluto Press.
- Gilroy, P. (1987) There Ain't No Black in the Union Jack. London: Hutchinson.
- Glazer, N. and Moynihan, D. (1963) Beyond the Melting Pot. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Hall, S. et al. (1978) Policing the Crisis: Mugging, the State and Law and Order. London: Macmillan.
- Hallsworth, S. and Young, T. (2004) 'Getting Real about Gangs', Criminal Justice Matters 55: 12-13.
- Hobbs, R. (1997) 'Criminal Collaboration: Youth Gangs, Subcultures, Professional Criminals and Organized Crime', in Oxford Handbook of Criminology. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hobbs, R. (2006) 'East Ending: Dissociation, De-Industrialization, and David Downes', in T. Newburn and P. Rock (eds.) *The Politics of Crime Control*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hoggart, R. (1957) *The Uses of Literacy*. London: Chatto and Windus
- Home Office (2007) 'Targeting Gun and Gang Crime', press release, 10 September 2007. London: Home Office.
- Howell, J.C. (2007) 'Menacing or Mimicking? Realities of Youth Gangs', *Juvenile and Family Court Journal* 58(2): 39-50.
- Katz, J. and Jackson-Jacobs, C (2004) 'The Criminologists Gang', pp. 91-124 in Sumner, C. (ed.), *The Blackwell Companion to Criminology*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Klein, M. (1995) The American Street Gang: Its Nature, Prevalence and Control. New York & Oxford: OUP.
- Klein, M., Kerner, H.J., Maxson, C.L. and Weitekamp, E.G.M. (2001) The Eurogang Paradox: Street Gangs and Youth Groups in the US and Europe. Dorderecht: Kluwer.
- Lewis, O. (1966) La Vida: A Puerto Rican Family in the Culture of Poverty. New York: Random House.
- Marshall, B., Webb, B. and Tilley, N. (2005)

  Rationalisation of Current Research on Guns,
  Gangs and Other Weapons: Phase 1. London:
  Jill Dando Institute of Crime Science, University
  College London.

- Metropolitan Police Authority (2007) 'Gun and Knife Enabled Crime in London', Briefing paper 5 April 2007. London: MPA.
- Metropolitan Police Service (2007) 'MPS Response to Guns, Gangs and Knives in London', URL: www.mpa.gov.uk/cop/2007/070503/05
- Moore, J.W. (1978) Homeboys: Gangs, Drugs and Prison in the Barrios of Los Angeles. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Patrick, J. (1973) A Glasgow Gang Observed. London: Eyre Methuen.
- Pearson, G. (1983) Hooligan: a History of Respectable Fears. London: Macmillan.
- Pitts, J. (2007) Reluctant Gangsters: Youth Gangs in Waltham Forest. Luton: University of Bedfordshire.

- Suttles, G.D. (1968) *The Social Order of the Slum*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Sveinsson, K. (2008) A Tale of Two Englands: 'Race' and Violent Crime in the Media. London: The Runnymede Trust.
- Thrasher, F. (1927) *The Gang*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Venkatesh, S. (2000) American Project; The Rise and Fall of a Modern Ghetto. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Venkatesh, S. (2008) Gang Leader for a Day. London: Allen Lane.
- Whyte, W.F. (1943) Street Corner Society: The Social Organisation of a Chicago Slum. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Yablonsky, L. (1962) The Violent Gang. New York: Macmillan.

#### **Newspaper Articles**

Daily Express

Youths'

16 February 2007 'Police Vow: We'll Nail Billy's Killers' (John Twomey & Tom Whitehead) (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/1957, accessed 28 September 2007)

- 18 February 2007 'Blair Promises New Gun Crime Law' (Alison Little) (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/1971, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 11 April 2007 'Blair Action Pledge on Gang Culture' (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/4167, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 12 April 2007 'Black Kids to Blame for the Knife and Gun Murders, says Blair' (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/4240, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 22 April 2007 '40 Immigrant Gangs Taking Over UK's Crime' (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/5049, accessed
- 28 September 2007)23 May 2007 'Report Warns of Gang Tag for

(www.express.co.uk/printer/view/7727, accessed 28 September 2007)

- 15 June 2007 "Safe Houses" for Ex-Gang Members' (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/9919, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 24 August 2007 'Gun-toting Thugs Have Declared War on Society' (www.express.co.uk/printer/view/17173, accessed 28 September 2007)

Daily Mail

- 26 June 2006 'The Life and Death of a Gangsta' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=392647&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 29 March 2007)
- 14 February 2007 'Armed Officers Take to South London Streets in Show of Force' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=436560&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 15 February 2007 'Guns as Accessories... Gangs that Take the Place of Families' (Richard Price) (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=436503&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 27 September 2007)
- 16 February 2007 'Comment: Scandal of the Absent Fathers' (Tony Sewell) (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=436519&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 18 February 2007 'PM Announces Review of Firearms Laws as Another Man is Shot' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=436893&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 27 September 2007)
- 22 February 2007 'Three-point Plan to Tackle Gun Crime' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=437794&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 1 March 2007 'Dawn Raids in Crackdown on Gun Crime' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/ print.html?in\_article\_id=439393&in\_page\_ id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)

- 16 March 2007 'The Website Tributes to Another "Fallen Soulja"'
- (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=442650&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 28 June 2007 'Police Hit Squads to Tackle Teen Gangs' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print. html?in\_article\_id=464872&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 27 September 2007)
- 10 August 2007 'How Black Boys with Better Role Models can Escape a Life of Crime' (Steve Doughty) (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print. html?in\_article\_id=474212&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 21 August 2007 'Straw Blames Absent Dads for Gang Violence' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=476837&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 23 August 2007 'Britain: Where Gangs are the Only Family' (Iain Duncan Smith) (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=477388&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 2 January 2008 'London's Gang Wars Claim the First Teenage Victim of 2008' (www. dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_ id=505627&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 23 January 2008)
- 16 January 2008 'Five Children Shot or Stabbed in London *Every* Day' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=508551&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 30 January 2008)
- 22 January 2008 'Teenager is Stabbed to Death on Busy Street in Gang "Revenge" Attack' (www.dailymail.co.uk/pages/text/print.html?in\_article\_id=509700&in\_page\_id=1770, accessed 23 January 2008)
- Daily Telegraph/Sunday Telegraph
  27 February 2007 'Families Targeted to Break
  Power of Gun Gangs' (John Steele)
  (www.telegraph.co.uk/core/content/
  displayprintable.jhtml?xml=news/2007/02,
  accessed 20 September 2007)
  - 13 April 2007 'Blair: Black Community Must Oppose Gangs' (John Steele) (www.telegraph.co.uk/core/content/ displayprintable.jhtml?xml=news/2007/024, accessed 20 September 2007)
  - 5 May 2007 'Gang-risk Children "Should be in Care" (John Steele) (www.telegraph.co.uk/core/content/displayprintable.jhtml?xml=news/2007/05/, accessed 20 September 2007)
  - 11 August 2007 'Young Guns of Moss Side' (www.telegraph.co.uk/core/content/displayprintable.jhtml?xml=news/2007/08, accessed 20 September 2007)

20 September 2007 'Lib Dems: Give Gun Crime Witnesses Anonymity' (Brendan Carlin) (www.telegraph.co.uk/core/content/displayprintable.jhtml?xml=news/2007/09, accessed 20 September 2007)

#### Evening Standard

31 December 2007 'Schoolboy Stabbed to Death on a Busy Street' (www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23430134, accessed 23/01/08)

#### Guardian/Observer

- 6 March 2007 'Armed Police in Gang Warning to Five Year Olds' (Helen Carter), (www.guardian. co.uk/print/0,,329735751-103539,00.html, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 3 May 2007 'Met Chief: Put Gang Siblings on Protection Register' (Sandra Laville) (www.guardian.co.uk/ print/0,,329804755-104770,00.html, accessed 28 September 2007)
- 26 August 2007 'Ban Gang Videos, Says MP' (Jamie Doward and Jo Revill) (www.guardian.co.uk/print/0,,330633738-104770,00.html, accessed 20 September 2007)
- 20 September 2007 'London's Youth Services Boosted by £60m Kitty' (Hugh Muir) (www.guardian.co.uk/society/2007/sep/20/ childrensservices.politics/print, accessed 27 March 2008)
- 31 January 2008 'Smith to Slash Restrictions on Police Power' (Patrick Wintour) (www.guardian.co.uk/guardianpolitics/story/0,,2249488,00.html, accessed 5 February 2008)

#### Inthenews.co.uk

4 January 2008 'New Year Stab Victim Named' (www.inthenews.co.uk/printerfirendly. aspx?itemid=1184732, accessed 23 January 2008)

#### The London Paper

- 3 January 2008 'Teen Killings Second Only to Terrorism' (Hannah Summers)
- 14 February 2008 'Street Gangs "Are Tougher than the IRA"' (Richard Moriarty and Dan Coombs)

#### Sun

- 10 May 2007 'Slam Door on Youths from Warlord Cultures'
- 21 January 2008 'Nail the Thugs' (Stuart Newton)

#### The Times

23 February 2007 'Gang Members Face Longer in Jail to Halt Rise of Urban Child Soldier' (Richard Ford and Stewart Tendler) (www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/politics/article1426548, accessed 20 September 2007)

### **Selected Runnymede Publications**

A Tale of Two Englands:

'Race' and Violent Crime in the Press

Runnymede Perspectives by Kjartan Páll Sveinsson (2008)

Empowering Individuals and Creating Community:
Thai Perspectives on Life in Britain

A Runnymede Community Study by Jessica Mai Sims (2008)

Living Transnationally - Romanian Migrants in London

A Runnymede Community Study by Andreea R. Torre (2008)

Faith Schools and Community Cohesion - Observations on Community Consultations

A Runnymede Interim Report by Audrey Osler (2007)

Failure by Any Other Name? - Educational Policy and the Continuing Struggle for Black Academic Success

Runnymede Perspectives by Nicola Rollock (2007)

Creating Connections - Regeneration and Consultation on a Multi-Ethnic Council Estate

A Runnymede Community Study by Kjartan Páll Sveinsson (2007)

The State of the Nation - Respect as a Justification for Policy

A Runnymede Thematic Review by Omar Khan (2007)

School Choice and Ethnic Segregation – Educational Decision-making among Black and Minority Ethnic Parents

A Runnymede Report by Debbie Weekes-Bernard (2007)

Not Enough Understanding? Student Experiences of Diversity in UK Universities

A Runnymede Community Study by Jessica Sims (2007)

**Bienvenue? - Narratives of Francophone Cameroonians** 

A Runnymede Community Study by Kjartan Páll Sveinsson (2007)

Distant Neighbours - Understanding How the French
Deal with Ethnic and Religious Diversity

Runnymede Perspectives by Christophe Bertossi (2007)

**Bolivians in London -**

Challenges and Achievements of a London Community

A Runnymede Community Study by Kjartan Páll Sveinsson (2007)

The Vietnamese Community in Great Britain
- Thirty Years On

A Runnymede Community Study by Jessica Sims (2007)

**Equal Respect - ASBOs and Race Equality** 

A Runnymede Report by Sarah Isal (2006)

Why Preferential Polices Can Be Fair Achieving Equality for Members of Disadvantaged Groups

Runnymede Perspectives by Omar Khan (2006)

What's New about New Immigrants in Twenty-First Century Britain?

Rob Berkeley, Omar Khan and Mohan Ambikaipaker (2006, Joseph Rowntree Foundation)

Preventing Racist Violence: Work with Actual and Potential Perpetrators - Learning from Practice to Policy Change

A Runnymede Report by Sarah Isal (2005)

The Space Between: From Rhetoric to Reality on Race Equality in the Workplace

A Runnymede Trust Report by Sandra Sanglin-Grant (April 2005)

Civil Renewal, Diversity and Social Capital in a Multi-Ethnic Britain

Runnymede Perspectives by David Faulkner (2004)

Social Capital, Civil Renewal & Ethnic Diversity

Proceedings of a Runnymede Conference (2004)

Preventing Racist Violence: Interim Findings Sarah Isal (Working Paper June 2004)

Realising the Vision: Progress and Further Challenges The Report of the CFMEB (2000) revisited in 2004

Runnymede Trust Briefing Paper (April 2004)

Guardians of Race Equality
Perspectives on Inspection and Regulation

Rob Berkeley (ed.) (2003)

Developing Community Cohesion:
Understanding The Issues, Delivering Solutions

Proceedings of a Runnymede Conference (2003)

Complementing Teachers:
A Practical Guide to Promoting Race Equality in Schools

Granada Learning and Runnymede (2003)

Divided by the Same Language?
Equal Opportunities and Diversity Translated

A Runnymede Trust Briefing Paper (March 2003)

Cohesion, Community and Citizenship:

Proceedings of a Runnymede Conference (2002)

Perpetrators of Racist Violence and Harassment A Runnymede Research Report by Omar Khan (2002)

Mentoring: Business and Schools Working Together (2001)

The Future of Multi-Ethnic Britain: The Parekh Report

Commission on the Future of Multi-Ethnic Britain (2000, Profile Books)

Moving On Up? Race Equality and the Corporate Agenda: a study of FTSE 100 companies

Sandra Sanglin-Grant and Robin Schneider (2000)

Improving Practice. A whole school approach to raising the achievement of African Caribbean youth,

Dr Debbie Weekes and Dr Cecile Wright (1998 with Nottingham Trent University)

Islamophobia: A Challenge for Us All

A Report of the Runnymede Trust Commission on British Muslims and Islamophobia (1997)

This is Where I Live: Stories and Pressures from Brixton (1996)

The Future of Multi-Ethnic Britain: Agenda for Action (1995)

A Very Light Sleeper:

The Persistence and Dangers of Anti-Semitism

Review by the Runnymede Commission on Antisemitism (1994)

For information on how to order Runnymede and jointly published titles contact us at:

The Runnymede Trust, 7 Plough Yard, Shoreditch, London EC2A 3LP
T: 020 7377 9222 F: 020 7377 6622 E: info@runnymedetrust.org W: www.runnymedetrust.org

Runnymede Perspectives aim, as a series, to engage with government – and other – initiatives through exploring the use and development of concepts in policymaking, and analysing their potential contribution to a successful multi-ethnic Britain.



#### The Runnymede Trust

7 Plough Yard London EC2A 3LP T: 020 7377 9222

F: 020 7377 6622 E: info@runnymedetrust.org W: www.runnymedetrust.org

A Company Limited by Guarantee

Registered in England No. 3409935

Registered Charity No. 1063609

Typeset, printed and bound in the UK by St Richards Press Ltd, Leigh Road, Chichester, West Sussex PO19 2TU

#### www.runnymedetrust.org

Dr Claire Alexander is Reader in Sociology at the London School of Economics. Her research interests are in the area of race, ethnicity, masculinity and youth identities, particularly in relation to ethnography. Her main publications include *The Art of Being Black* (OUP, 1996) and *The Asian Gang* (Berg, 2000). She is co-editor of *Beyond Difference* (Ethnic and Racial Studies, July 2002) and *Making Race Matter: Bodies, Space and Identity* (Palgrave, 2005) and Editor of *Writing Race: Ethnography and Difference* (Ethnic and Racial Studies, May 2006). Dr Alexander is a Trustee of the Runnymede Trust.



Funded by the Connecting Communities Plus strategic grants programme from the Department of Communities and Local Government. The views in this report do not necessarily represent those of the funder.

